FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/14/2022 4:05 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/15/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 55461-5-II

101286-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petitioner Dr. AMELIA BESOLA, individually,

Appellant,

v.

BRANDON GUNWALL individually,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

Jose F. Vera of Vera & Associates PLLC WSBA #25534, Attorney for Petitioners 100 West Harrison Street, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 793-8318 Josevera@veraassociates.com

I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a Summary Judgment Order in favor of a Respondent in a consolidated TEDRA action, in which the Respondent admits to no evidence of a material fact. The Respondent, Mr. Brandon Gunwall ("Gunwall"), claims that the deceased in the underlying TEDRA action, Mark Besola ("Mark"), made him the beneficiary of two non-probate assets: an investment account with Fidelity Investments (the "Fidelity Account"); and a life insurance policy. Gunwall claimed that he became the beneficiary of these two accounts by virtue of "Apps" on Mark's cell-phone which did not require Mark's signature, presentation of photographic Id, or a notary to confirm the identity of the one making the beneficiary changes on the cellphone app.

On April 10, 2020, the trial court consolidated all matters stemming from Mark's death in the TEDRA matter. The Petitioner is Mark's older sister, Dr. Amy Besola ("Dr. Amy" or "Petitioner.") The Petitioner's general position before the trial

1

court was that the disputed will and non-probate transfers were the result of fraud, undue influence, or some other type of bad acts. Most all of the beneficiaries of Mark's filed will and nonprobate assets had only known Mark for less than a year. Collectively, they stood to gain between \$5M-\$6.5M from Mark's death.

Prior to the 2021 trial in this matter, Gunwall moved for Summary Judgment on the question of whether the Petitioner could show sufficient facts to go to trial on Petitioner's claims of fraud, undue influence, and other bad acts with respect to Mark's Fidelity Account. Gunwall prevailed on his Motion for Summary Judgment despite the fact he had and presented no evidence that Mark made the change to his Fidelity Account that made him the primary beneficiary of Mark's Fidelity Account. In motions before the Court of Appeals, Gunwall admitted that he had no evidence that Mark made the changes that made him the Fidelity Account beneficiary, rather he only had evidence that "someone" made the account changes that made him the Fidelity Account beneficiary. The trial court's Order on Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment is at the heart of this Petition for Review: is an Order granting summary judgment to a moving party proper when the moving party lacks any evidence on a necessary material question of fact; and are ID-free cellphone App transfers of non-probate assets proper without authenticating safeguards in Washington.

Trial in this matter, on the remaining issues unrelated to Gunwall, was held in February 2021 and the evidence closed— <u>except</u> for one thread of evidence to an on-line legal document company. Records were subpoenaed. When the evidence came back from this company, it revealed that the will at the heart of the TEDRA litigation was created more than 4 months after Mark's death. The evidence showed that the will filed in the underlying matter on May 8, 2019, was fake. The fake will evidenced a sophisticated mind behind the fraud—it included UC Davis and Kitsap Animal Shelter as institutional beneficiaries, excluded out of state half-siblings as beneficiaries, and incorporated other recent events to bolster its creditability from anticipated attacks. The participants in the fake will were found in November 2021 to be participants in a group effort to commit fraud based via the fake will.

Unfortunately for the Petitioner, the trial court sealed a portion of the records returned from the online legal document company—despite the fact that all counsel in the underlying matter signed a GR 15 Stipulation to unseal the documents. Petitioner believes that the sealed documents contain evidence the demonstrate Gunwall's inclusion in the group using the fake will to commit fraud. In Gunwall's case, the fraud relates to his claim to Mark's life insurance policy proceeds. The issue of the sealed documents is currently on Appeal with Division II of the Court Appeal (#56205-7-II). Petitioner raises this issue now because Gunwall's underlying Motion for Summary Judgement occurred in a universe of false facts and facts tainted by the conspiracy to commit fraud. This taint of fraud to the factual universe before the trial court on Gunwall's Motion for Summary

Judgment only adds to the problems created by Gunwall's lack of evidence that Mark intentionally effectuated that the cellphone App change that made Gunwall the Fidelity Account beneficiary. This is especially true when the sealed evidence may likely demonstrate Gunwall's direct involvement in the group committing the fraud. Should not Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment be considered on the facts that actually existed at the time of Gunwall's Motion and not on the facts manufactured by the group committing fraud? Should not the Washington Court system strive to reach a just determination in every action?

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Dr. Amelia Besola, ("Dr. Amy" or "Petitioner") respectfully moves for the relief set forth below.

III. DECISION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the decision entered by Division II of Washington Court of Appeals on July 6, 2022 (Court of Appeals No. 5546-5-II) (the "Decision" or "Opinion"). Attached hereto as **Appendix A**. Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Publication. Attached hereto as **Appendix B**. The Court of Appeals Division II denied this Motion on August 15, 2022. Denying decision attached hereto as **Appendix C**.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Opinion gives the Supreme Court an opportunity to do the following:

A. Whether a party moving for summary judgment on whether they are entitled to a non-probate asset, as a primary beneficiary on an investment account, in a consolidated TEDRA action is required to have favorable evidence on all material facts (as opposed to no facts on who made them the primary account beneficiary) when the underlying will was fake because it was created more than 4 months after the decedent's' death, when the fake will resulted from a group effort to commit fraud, and when there is evidence (currently sealed by a trial court order) that the party moving for summary judgment on the question of ownership of the non-probate investment account is a member of the group committing fraud to take the decedent's estate.

B. Whether changes to account beneficiary designations should require an affirmative ID confirmation when made by cellphone Apps for accounts and account holders located in Washington State.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gunwall claimed that Mark transferred his Fidelity Investment Account to him by changing the beneficiary designation on the account via a cellphone app on May 4, 2018. This changed designation and Mark's death combined to transfer the Fidelity Investment account to Gunwall upon Mark's death. Petitioner asserted and continues to assert that the claimed transfer of the Fidelity Account must fail because it results from undue influence or fraud. Petitioner also assets that the claimed transfer fails because Gunwall admits to lacking evidence that Mark effectuated the beneficiary designation change that led to the transfer to Gunwall.

Gunwall moved for summary judgment to dismiss Petitioner's claims and to affirm his ownership of Mark's Fidelity Account. Gunwall's claim to the Fidelity Investment account was predicated on the May 4, 2018 change to the primary beneficiary designation for Mark's Fidelity Investment account via a cellphone App. Gunwall presented no evidence that Mark Besola, in fact, made the change to the account's primary beneficiary designation—only that "someone" made the change. CP. 2116 Ln. 15. The Court Appeals even noted that the trial court made no written findings that Mark effectuated the beneficiary designation change. See FN 17 on P. 19 of Besola v. Pula, Unpublished Slip Opinion, Court Appeals Cause No. 55461-5-II filed on July 6, 2022.

The absence of written findings by the trial court that Mark changed the beneficiary designation on his Fidelity Account does not mean that the trial court made no such finding—it only means that the trial court failed to put an affirmative or negative findings in writing. The trial court's finding of fact that "Mark made the change to the beneficiary designations on his Fidelity account" is implicit. The finding of fact was made manifest by the fact that the trial court granted Gunwall ownership of the Fidelity Account at the end of the motion. After all, neither the Petitioner nor Gunwall presented evidence to the trial court as to who made the beneficiary change for Mark's Fidelity Account. This means that the trial court decided, without evidence from either party, that Mark made the designation change and not "someone other than Mark." Even implicit trial court findings of material fact are improper on a summary judgment motion.

Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment happened in the midst of a flurry of motions by the various parties to the TEDRA action. The facts before the trial court during these motions, which included Gunwall's Motion, were tainted by a false narrative spun by the conspiracy to commit fraud. *See* attached hereto as *Appendix D* the trial Court's November 17, 2021 *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* that find and describe at pages 8-12 the effort by a group of parties and

witnesses to commit fraud via a fake will. At the time of these motions, the Petitioner, her lawyers, and the trial court lacked any knowledge about the conspiracy to take about \$5 million in real estate assets from Mark's estate via a fake narrative and a fake Will. (CP 115-127 in the related Court of Appeals No. $(56725-3)^1$. Also at the time of the cross motions for summary judgment, it could not be known if the sealed documents (CP 387-405 in the related Court of Appeals No. 56725-3) contained evidence of revisions to the original fake will created on April 19, 2019 (CP 122 in the related Court of Appeals No. 56725-3) that implicated Gunwall in the conspiracy to commit fraud. At this time and without discovery on the issues raised by such revisions to the fake will documents, it is not possible to determine the true scope of the fraud that tried to take Mark's estate. We can only know that even as of this writing the scope of the conspiracy to take Mark's Estate is unknown but will

¹ This and the next two cites cite the Clerk's Papers in the closely related appeal before the Division II of the Court of Appeals No. 56725-3 because none of these cited facts existed at the time of summary judgment hearing yet all cited facts evidence the true state of affairs at the time of Gunwall's Motions for Summary Judgment.

likely grow if and after the currently sealed documents are unsealed. Petitioner's fear is that the final fate of Mark's Fidelity Account may be decided before the courts consider the evidence that Gunwall was a member of the group who tried to take Mark's Estate by fraud, before she has an opportunity to conduct discovery on such possibility based on this new potential evidence, and before the courts have a chance to revisit Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment on the true state of facts that existed at the time of Gunwall's initial Motion.

VI. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF REQUESTED

1. Facts manifested after Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment move this matter well beyond the simple question of whether the transfer of the Fidelity Account to Gunwall resulted from undue influence.

On Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment, the question before the trial court was whether the transfer of the Fidelity Account to Gunwall resulted from undue influence. At the time of the Gunwall hearing, no one but the coconspirators knew about their fraudulent conduct, the members of their group, the true extent of their efforts to commit fraud, and the fake will. Even now, the true extent of their group and the group's efforts to commit fraud are unknown.

Even at the time of Gunwall's Motion, the question of the propriety of transferring the Fidelity Account to Gunwall seemed not to fit the mold of Washington's undue influence cases. In this case there was a legitimate question of whether the transfer resulted from an intentional act by Mark Besola. While in the cases cited by the parties, there was substantial if not overwhelming evidence that the various decedents, in fact, made the transfer at issue in each particular case.

For instance, in *Dean*, the transfer at issue was a will and there were numerous witnesses to the transfer, including a lawyer. *Dean v. Jorden*, 194 Wn. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (Wn. 1938). In *Mitchell*, the transfer at issue was a will and again there were numerous witnesses to the transfer, including a lawyer. *Mitchell v Daling*, 41 Wn. 2d 326, 249 P.2d 385 (Wn. 1952). In *Kitsap Bank*, the transfer at issues was a check for \$360,000 and a POD

account designation, and there were a number of witnesses, including a bank manager, a lawyer, and others to the transfer. Kitsap Bank v. Denley, 177 Wn.App559, 312 P.3d 711 (Div. II 2013). In *Estate of Jones*, the transfer at issue was a will, and there were numerous witnesses to the transfer, including a lawyer, an estate planner, and others. *Estate of Jones*, 170 Wn.App 594, 287 P.3d 610 (Div.3 2012). In *Mumby*, the transfer at issue was a will and there were numerous witnesses to the transfer, including a lawyer, an estate planner, and others. Estate of Mumby v. Caldwell, 97 Wn.App. 385, 982 P.2d 1219 (Div. 2 1999). In *Melter*, the transfer at issue was a will and there were a number of witnesses to the transfer, including a lawyer. *Estate of Melter*, 167 Wn.App. 285, 273 P.3d 991 (Div.3 2012). In *Lint*, the transfer at issue was a will and there were a number of witnesses to the transfer, including a lawyers, doctors, and others. *Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 957 P.2d 755 (Wn. 1998). And last in *Lennon*, the transfers at issue were stock certificates, joint accounts, and a power of attorney and there were a number of witnesses to the transfer(s), including a lawyer, bankers, and others. *Estate of Lennon*, 108 Wn.App. 167, 29 P.3d 1258 (Div. 1 2001). Here, unlike the eight cases cited above there are no witnesses to the transfer at issue nor is there evidence that Mark even effectuated the transfer of the Fidelity Account to Gunwall—we only know that "someone" caused the account beneficiaries to change. CP. 2116 Ln.

Here, Gunwall had the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact as to him being entitled to Mark's Fidelity Investment account funds upon Mark's death. *Zonnebloem, LLC v. Blue Bay Holdings, LLC*, 200 Wn. App. 178, 183, 401 P. 3d 468 (2017). Gunwall admits that "at best, the records show that the account was accessed by someone – that is all." CP 2116, ln 15.

Gunwall's admission, the distorting effect of the group then before the trial court to further their collective effort to commit fraud, and the likelihood that Gunwall was a member of the group trying to take Mark's estate by fraud move this matter to its own, separate category. In fact, Gunwall's involvement with the conspiracy to commit fraud is only really knowable to Petitioner and the courts if the currently sealed documents are unsealed and made available to Petitioner. Here we have judicially suppressed evidence that was not before the trial court as part of the record on which it decided the summary judgment motion, but which evidence was existing and known to some at the time of the hearing. Thus, the question becomes if the propriety of the transfer of Mark's Fidelity Account should be assessed and decided on the full set of existing facts, including on whether Gunwall is a member of the group trying to take Mark's estate by collective acts of fraud.

The only case remotely close to this matter is *Keck v*. *Collins*, 184 Wash.2d 358 357 P.3d 1080 (Wash. 2015). In *Keck*, the trial granted a defendant's motion for summary judgment after it suppressed one of three declarations submitted by the plaintiff to oppose the defendant's summary judgment motion. *Id*. This Court noted in *Keck* that a decision to exclude evidence that would affect a party's ability to present its case amounts to a severe sanction. *Id.* at 184 Wash.2d at 368. The *Keck* Court went on to state that this Court's "overriding responsibility is to interpret the rules in a way that advances the underlying purpose of the rules, which is to reach a just determination in every action. *Id.* at 369. The result in *Keck* was that the evidence suppressed by the trial court was unsuppressed and the matter decided on the full evidence available to the trial court and parties at the time of defendant's summary judgment motion hearing. *Id*.

The Petitioner seeks the basic result here as this Court made possible in *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wash.2d 358 357 P.3d 1080 (Wash. 2015). The Petitioner seeks the release of the suppressed or sealed evidence from the online legal document company and the opportunity to conduct discovery limited to the facts set forth in and related to the facts in the currently sealed documents. This will enable a consideration of Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment on the full set of facts known to the coconspirators and likely Gunwall at the time of his initial hearing for Summary Judgment. The Petitioner wants a just result to Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the facts that existed and were known to conspiracy members at the time of Gunwall's hearing, especially when Gunwall very likely knew at the time of the hearing about the group committing fraud and if he was involved with the group. Considering Gunwall's Motion on facts known to but not disclosed by Gunwall prior to his Motion for Summary Judgment would not unfairly prejudice Gunwall.

2. Washington Citizens Need Safeguards that Require ID Confirmation to Make Testamentary Transfers of Non-Probate Assets, like Financial Accounts and Insurance Policies, via Cellphone Apps.

In the coming age of managing one's financial affairs by cellphone apps, the rule needs to be established or affirmed that such transfers and transactions are effective or not without signatures or other evidence that the decedent or account owner, in fact, made the transfer or transaction. As noted by the trial court and Court of Appeals, the transfer here was effectuated by a cellphone App that required no confirming act that the account owner was the one who in fact made the transfer to the transferee.

Transfers like the one that occurred here seem designed to be vulnerable to fraudulent transfers. Anyone with access to another's cellphone and financial records could cause the type of transfer that occurred here. The opportunity for fraud and other bad acts would only increase if the transferor was in a confidential or dependent relationship with the transferee. Historically, such transfers required confirmation that the account owner made the transfer or account changes by notarized or in-office ID confirmed signatures. But now these types of transfers appear to be possible by a few key strokes on an account owner's cellphone.

An opinion on such cellphone transfers would provide notice to practitioners, professionals, and citizens that such app based transfers will be enforced either subject to specific rules or in the absence of such rules regardless of whether there is

18

evidence that the account holder made the transaction. The transferor could then either follow the new rules or knowingly accept the risk of no such rules. A transferor could even opt out of the risk by insisting that such app based transfers of their accounts require an authenticating wet signature within so many days of an App based transfer or a contemporaneous photograph of the transferor taken by the device being used for the transfer that is then sent to the app maker, account owner, or financial institution for later confirmation of the transferor effectuating the transaction in question. App based financial transactions are likely on the rise, yet they need security or options for the transferor to guard against fraud. An opinion here will put all on notice that such app based transactions will be enforced regardless of evidence or the lack of evidence that the account holder or decedent made such a transfer or will be made in accord with the rules announced by this Court.

VII. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court should accept review because the

Opinion of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this Court's decision in *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wash.2d 358 357 P.3d 1080 (Wash. 2015) and because the Opinion touches on issues of substantial public interest in the safety of having cellphone Apps that can transfer financial accounts and insurance policy proceeds upon the account or policy owner's death without any type of confirmation that it was the account or policy owner that made the change or transfer of the account or policy in the first instance.

The Court of Appeal's decision in this matter is in conflict with this Court's Decision in *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wash.2d 358 357 P.3d 1080 (Wash. 2015). Here, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's Order on Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment despite the fact that the trial court has now found that, unknown to it and Petitioner, a group of those involved in this litigation were trying to take Mark Besola's estate by fraud at the time of the hearing on Gunwall's Motion for Summary Judgment and that currently sealed evidence may likely provide direct evidence that Gunwall was and is a member of the group trying to take Mark's estate by fraud. The effect of the Court of Appeal's decision is to exclude or suppress evidence that would affect the Petitioner's ability to present its case that the transfer of Mark's Fidelity Account is the result of fraud or part of the conspiracy to commit fraud. To avoid this result, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to interpret the rules for summary judgment hearings in a way that reaches a just determination of Gunwall's claim to the Fidelity Account funds on all the facts available to the trial court and parties related to Gunwall's claim. The Petitioner needs access to the sealed documents to determine if Gunwall or affirm that Gunwall is part of the conspiracy to comment fraud and if so, does his participation in this group render his lack of evidence that Mark made the change to his Fidelity Account fatal to his effort to obtain the Fidelity Account funds by a Motion for Summary Judgment.

Finally, the Supreme Court should accept review because the Opinion of the Court of Appeals touches on matters of substantial public interest because the decision touches on the security of cellphone App transfers of financial accounts and insurance policy proceeds. The Washington public needs to understand that these types of transfers can be made without safety protocols to ensure that the account or policy owner actually made the transfer or account change in the first instance. Given the relatively new nature of such transfers or changes being able to be made by cellphone Apps, the general public may not yet understand that these types of account and policy transfers are vulnerable to being made by housemates, family members, and in-home caregivers. This Court's Opinion on the use of such cellphone Apps would alert the Washington Public to such risks or announce new rules for such transfers. Either way, the Washington public would benefit.

VII. <u>Conclusion</u>

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner respectfully requests the Supreme Court to accept review of this matter.

Submitted September 14, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

Jose F. Vera, WSBA # 25534 Vera & Associates PLLC 100 W. Harrison Street, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98119 P. (206) 793-8318

CERTIFICATE OF WORD COUNT

The undersigned certifies that the foregoing Reply is 14

point, New Times Roman font and contains 3,849 words.

DATED this 14th day of September 2022 at Everett, Washington in Snohomish County. Jose F. Vera, Attorney at Law WSBA #25534

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on 14th day of September, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing document upon counsel of record, via the methods noted below, properly addressed as follows:

Daniel K. Walk Morton McGoldrick, PLLC 820 "A" Street, Suite 600 Tacoma, WA 98402 <u>dkwalk@bvmm.com</u>	\boxtimes	Email
Jose F. Vera	_	
Vera & Associates PLLC	X	Email
Suite 300, South Tower		
100 W. Harrison		
Seattle, WA 98119		
Attorney for Amelia Besola		
josevera@veraassociates.com		
Igor V. Stadnik	\times	Email
Keesal, Young & Logan		
1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3100		
Seattle, WA 98101		
Attorney for Fidelity Brokerage Services, LLC		
Igor.stadnik@kyl.com		

DATED this 14th day of September, 2022.

<u>/s/ Lisa Lefebvre</u> Lisa Lefebvre, Legal Assistant

Appendix A

Filed Washington State Court of Appeals Division Two

July 6, 2022

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

In the Matter of the Estate of:

No. 55461-5-II

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