FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/14/2022 11:48 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1012861

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMELIA BESOLA,

Appellant,

V.

BRANDON GUNWALL,

Respondent.

BRANDON GUNWALL'S ANSWER TO AMELIA BESOLA'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel K. Walk, WSBA #52017 Kathleen E. Pierce, WSBA #12631 Morton McGoldrick, PLLC 820 "A" Street, Suite 600 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 627-8131 Attorneys for Respondent Gunwall

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Amy's Petition Includes Improper Appendices.

creation of a Will *after* Mark's death not while he was still alive (some eight months prior to his death when the beneficiary designations changes took place).

⁷Amy's Appendix improperly contains the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law from the Will Contest.

RAP 9.1 restricts the record on review to the report of proceedings, clerk's papers, and exhibits. RAP 9.12 further limits the evidence and issues considered to those called to the attention of the trial court before the order on summary judgment was entered. RAP 10.3(a)(8) states that an appendix may not include materials not contained in the record on review without permission of the court. Finally, RAP 13.4(c)(9) states that an appendix shall contain a copy of the Court of Appeals Decision, any order granting or denying a motion for reconsideration of the decision, and copies of statutes and constitutional provisions relevant to the issues presented for review.

Amy submitted, as Appendix B, the *Petitioner's*Motion for Reconsideration and Publication, and as

Appendix D, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

from the Will Contest. Both appendices contain

inadmissible materials submitted to this Court in violation

of the rules of appellate procedure which should not be considered.

B. Amy Cannot Establish any Reason for the Supreme Court to Grant Review.

In spite of Amy's improper inclusion and reliance on improper materials, she has failed to establish that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court or that this matter involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any Supreme Court opinion, including *Keck v. Collins*.

Amy relies solely on *Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d* 358, 362, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) as the "only case remotely close to this matter." That this case is the only case, by Amy's own admission (or assertion), that is remotely close to her argument, is telling with respect to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

⁸ Petition at Page 15.

Keck v. Collins involved a complicated procedural history that saw the plaintiff's expert in a medical malpractice case filing successive affidavits in opposition to a summary judgment motion. Id. at 364-366. The trial court struck the third affidavit as untimely, but this Court determined that the affidavit should have been admitted and found that it sufficed to defeat the motion for summary judgment. Id. at 367. This Court further held that a trial court must apply the factors from Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), when ruling on a motion to exclude untimely evidence submitted in response to a summary judgment motion. *Id*. at 362.

In spite of Amy's assertions to the contrary, *Keck v.*Collins has absolutely nothing to do with the case at bar.

In Keck v. Collins, the party opposing summary judgment submitted an affidavit in opposition to the summary judgment motion that the trial court refused to consider.

The affidavit was not "sealed", it was simply excluded from consideration as untimely. In this case, Amy simply failed to submit any evidence whatsoever, or at least admissible and relevant evidence, sufficient to move forward on her claims. There was no evidence, timely or untimely, submitted at the summary judgment hearing to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Gunwall had committed any act that would disqualify him from receiving the Fidelity account as the named beneficiary. There was certainly no evidence that was improperly excluded from consideration that would have changed the outcome of the hearing. The sealed documents in the separate Will Contest trial conducted years later have no bearing on this matter, and even if they did, they were not before the trial court at the time of the hearing on summary judgment which is the subject of this appeal.

- 2. The petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.
 - a. The test for substantial public interest.

To determine whether a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest, three factors must be considered: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. State v. Beaver, 184 Wn.2d 321, 330-31, 358 P.3d 385, 390 (2015). Continuing and substantial public interest has generally been shown in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, the validity of statutes or regulations, and matters that are sufficiently important to the appellate court. Id. It is not used in cases that are limited to their specific facts. Id. None of the three factors is present in this case and it is notable that Amy fails to

discuss *any* legal authority surrounding what constitutes continuing and substantial public interest.

This complicated and very fact-specific case involves hotly disputed claims related to the larger Besola family – Amy, Mark, and others. Overwhelming evidence was submitted at summary judgment regarding Mark's communications expressing his hatred of his sisters, Amy specifically, and his desire to ensure that she did not inherit The circumstances regarding Mark's health, from him. drug abuse, and living arrangements were extremely unique set of facts arising out of the private life of the decedent. The case involves no constitutional questions, nor does it involve the interpretation of any statutes. A decision here will not affect or provide any guidance whatsoever for public officers.

b. Amy incorrectly states the burden of proof on Summary Judgment and mischaracterizes the facts of the case in an attempt create an issue of public interest.

Amy incorrectly and improperly states that Gunwall, a respondent at the trial court level, who she alleged to have engaged in some wronging that caused him to be named as the beneficiary of Mark's Fidelity accounts, had the burden of proving the details and authenticity of his designation as beneficiary. This is not the law. Often the beneficiary may not even know that he has been so named until after the death of the account holder.

There is simply no legal basis or authority for the position taken by Amy that she does not bear the burden of proving her claims but that, instead, it is somehow Gunwall's burden to prove that his designation as beneficiary, as shown in the records of the company holding the account, was properly made. The law is, in fact, the opposite, and even more so on summary judgment. When a party claims undue influence, as Amy did here, the evidentiary standard for the accuser is

exceedingly high and must prove their claim by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *In re Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 535 (1998); *In re Estate of Mumby*, 97 Wn.App. 385, 391 (1999). The court is to consider the claims on summary judgment through this lens. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477, U.S. 242, 254, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). Finally, when evaluating these claims, a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law if the higher standard is not met. *Kitsap Bank v. Denley*, 177 Wn. App. 559, 569, (2013); *Woody v. Stapp*, 146 Wn. App. 16, 22 (2008); *accord Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 252.

A party may move for summary judgment by (1) setting out its own version of the facts and alleging that there is no genuine issue as to the facts set forth, or (2) by pointing out that the nonmoving party lacks sufficient evidence to support its case. *Pac. Nw. Shooting Park Ass'n v. City of Sequim*, 158 Wn.2d 342, 350 (2006); *Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 21 (1993). In a

summary judgment motion, the moving party has the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. This burden can be met by showing that there is an absence of evidence supporting the nonmoving party's case. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986); Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-26, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). In this situation, the moving party is not required to support the motion by affidavits or other materials negating the opponent's claim. Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322-23; Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225-26. Complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225 (quoting Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 322-23) and Weatherbee v. Gustafson, 64 Wn. App. 128, 132, 822 P.2d 1257, 1259 (1992) (Emphasis added).

Once the moving party satisfies its burden, the nonmoving party must present evidence demonstrating that a material fact remains in dispute. Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26 (2005). "'A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends, in whole or in part." Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 861 (2004) (quoting Barrie v. Hosts of Am., Inc., 94 Wn.2d 640, 642 (1980)). The nonmoving party may not rest on mere allegations or denials from the pleadings. CR 56(e). The response must set forth specific admissible facts that reveal a genuine issue for trial. Grimwood v. Univ: of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 359 (1988) (emphasis added). Inadmissible evidence is irrelevant to summary judgment proceedings. Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc., 136 Wn. App. 295, 306, 151 P. 3d 201 (2006). Conclusions and speculation are insufficient. Grimwood, supra, at 360. A fact is "what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as

distinguished from supposition or opinion." *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). The "facts" required by CR 56(e) to defeat a summary judgment motion are evidentiary in nature. *Grimwood*, 110 Wn.2d at 359. Finally, questions of fact may be determined on summary judgment as a matter of law where reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion." *Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 485, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003).

In *Denley*, there was a challenge by an Estate claiming that the beneficiary of a bank account payable on death was not entitled to the funds in the account because the designation was the result of undue influence. There, the beneficiary moved for summary judgment to dismiss the claim. The Court recognized that in order to defeat a summary judgment to dismiss a claim of undue influence, the party bearing the burden to prove the undue influence claim at trial must present sufficient evidence to make it

highly probable that the undue influence claim will prevail at trial. Denley at 569-570. A trial court may grant a summary judgment motion to dismiss if no rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, could find clear, cogent, and convincing evidence on each element. Id. (emphasis added).

In spite of Amy's unfounded allegations, suspicions, and defamatory accusations there is no evidence in the record (nor does she even attempt to cite to any) to substantiate her claims. Her petition is completely void of citations to the record to support her claims that Gunwall took any action, electronic or otherwise, to access or change the beneficiary of the Fidelity Accounts. After almost two years of discovery, and without any evidence whatsoever to prove any wrongdoing by Gunwall, the trial court properly dismissed the claims as a matter of law based upon the above cited

authorities, and the Court of Appeals properly upheld the trial court's decision.

Amy goes further and relies upon these unfounded allegations regarding the use of a "cell phone app" to argue that there is substantial public interest in regulating how beneficiary designations are effectuated. Not only is there no evidence of failed security, or authentication in using them, such regulation of the financial, investment, and life insurance companies is a legislative matter, not a judicial one, especially when there are absolutely no facts to support such intervention. Here, Amy simply fabricates evidence to claim there is a public interest in this case. There is not.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition fails to set forth any justification under RAP 13.4 for Supreme Court review. The decision of the Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court's dismissal of claims on summary judgment because there was

insufficient evidence to support them is not at odds with any Supreme Court decision and it presents no issue of continuing substantial public interest. It is a standard summary judgment case arising out of a unique set of facts arising out of the administration of a decedent's estate. As such, the petition for review should be denied.